

WEST VIRGINIA
SECRETARY OF STATE
KEN HECHLER
ADMINISTRATIVE LAW DIVISION

Form #1

Do Not Mark In This Box
FILED
Dec 28 1 59 PM '95
OFFICE OF WEST VIRGINIA
SECRETARY OF STATE

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON A PROPOSED RULE

WV Workers' Compensation Division
AGENCY: Bureau of Employment Programs TITLE NUMBER: 85
RULE TYPE: Exempt Legislative ; CITE AUTHORITY §21A-2-6(1) & 6(2); §21A-3-7(b) & 7(c); §23-1-1 and §23-3-18.
AMENDMENT TO AN EXISTING RULE: YES X NO ____
IF YES, SERIES NUMBER OF RULE BEING AMENDED: 11
TITLE OF RULE BEING AMENDED: Enforcement of Reporting and Payment
Requirements
IF NO, SERIES NUMBER OF NEW RULE BEING PROPOSED: ____
TITLE OF RULE BEING PROPOSED: ____

DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING: February 15, 1995 TIME: 10:00 a.m.
LOCATION OF PUBLIC HEARING: Charleston Civic Center
200 Civic Center Drive
Charleston, WV
Room 206

COMMENTS LIMITED TO: ORAL ____, WRITTEN ____, BOTH X

COMMENTS MAY ALSO BE MAILED TO THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS: Richard S. Stephenson

WRITTEN COMMENT PERIOD WILL END ON FEBRUARY 29, 1996,
AT 4:00 p.m.

The Department requests that persons wishing to make
comments at the hearing make an effort to submit written
comments in order to facilitate the review of these comments.

The issues to be heard shall be limited to the proposed rule.

ATTACH A BRIEF SUMMARY OF YOUR PROPOSAL

Legal Services Division

P.O. Box 3922

Charleston, WV 25339-3922
(304) 926-5130

Compensation Programs Performance Counsel
WV Bureau of Employment Programs

Andrew N. Richardson
Andrew N. Richardson,
Commissioner

FISCAL NOTE FOR PROPOSED RULES

Rule Title: Enforcement of Reporting and Payment Requirements

Exempt

Type of Rule: ☒ Legislative ☐ Interpretive ☐ Procedural

Agency WV Workers' Compensation Division

Bureau of Employment Programs, Legal Services Division

Address 4700 MacCorkle Avenue, S.E.

Charleston, WV 25304

1. Effect of Proposed Rule:

	ANNUAL FISCAL YEAR				
	INCREASE	DECREASE	CURRENT	NEXT	THEREAFTER
ESTIMATED TOTAL COST	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
PERSONAL SERVICES	0	0	0	0	0
CURRENT EXPENSE	0	0	0	0	0
REPAIRS & ALTERNATIONS	0	0	0	0	0
EQUIPMENT	0	0	0	0	0
OTHER	0	0	0	0	0

2. Explanation of Above Estimates:

No increases or decreases in cost are anticipated because the proposed rule merely clarifies and interprets an existing rule and implements the amendments to the underlying statutory law provided by Acts of the Legislature, 1995 Regular Session, Enrolled Committee Substitute for Senate Bill No. 250, which contained no amendments which substantially affected costs in the enforcement of reporting and payment requirements.

3. Objectives of These Rules:

This rule implements the provisions of West Virginia Code, §§23-1-13 and 16; §§23-2-1, 1b, 1d, 5, 5a, 5b, 5c, 5d, 8, 9, 13, 14, 15 and 17; and §23-3-1, regarding the determination of delinquency and default by employers; reporting and payment requirements; enforcement of compliance by employers with reporting and payment requirements; and, collection of payments arising from those requirements and others. The purpose of amendments to this rule is to implement the amended provisions of West Virginia Code, as amended by the Acts of the Legislature, as set forth in Enrolled Committee Substitute for Senate Bill No. 250, passed on February 10, 1995, and in effect from passage, as well as other amendments which are refinements of the prior rules which were designed to ensure effective administration and financial viability of the workers' compensation system.

Rule Title: Enforcement of Reporting and Payment Requirements

4. Explanation of Overall Economic Impact of Proposed Rule:

A. Economic Impact on State Government.

The clarification and interpretation, as well as the implementations of recent statutory amendments to the underlying law, should increase collections of delinquent and default workers' compensation premiums and penalties and should result in increased voluntary compliance by employers with the reporting and payment requirements of the W. Va. Workers' Compensation Act.

B. Economic Impact on Political Subdivisions; Specific Industries; Specific Groups of Citizens.

Increased voluntary compliance with the reporting and payment requirements of the Act and increased collections of delinquent and default premiums and penalties will have the longer term effect of reducing premium rates of taxes for all employers and reducing the unfunded claims liabilities of the "Workers' Compensation Fund."

C. Economic Impact on Citizens/Public at Large.

Any reduction in tax rates or in the level of increases in tax rates upon employers has the long term effect of increasing employment gain through increased employer confidence and increased economic development. Reduction in the unfunded claims liability reduces the threat of need in the future for general tax revenue to fund the liability and bolsters confidence in the workers' compensation benefits system and the State's economic condition, which bolsters future economic development and development of jobs.

Date: 12-28-95

Signature of Agency Head or Authorized Representative



Andrew N. Richardson
Commissioner, Bureau of Employment Programs

WEST VIRGINIA
BUREAU OF EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMS
WORKERS' COMPENSATION DIVISION

ENFORCEMENT OF REPORTING AND PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS
85 C.S.R. 11

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED CHANGES

The purpose of amendments to this rule is to implement the amended provisions of West Virginia Code, as amended by the Acts of the Legislature, as set forth in Enrolled Committee Substitute for Senate Bill No. 250, passed on February 10, 1995, and in effect from passage, as well as other amendments which are refinements of the prior rules which were designed to ensure effective administration and financial viability of the workers' compensation system.

More specifically, the amendments to these rules are, in summary, as follows:

1. Changing titles and names of the government entities and its officers and changing punctuation, spelling and other typographical errors;
2. Changing and adding words and phrases for the purpose of clarifying the meaning of the previous rules;
3. Redefining the term "default" to clarify its previously stated meaning and to enlarge its stated meaning to include another statutory definition which was not previously stated in these rules;
4. Clarifying the meanings of other terms, such as "commissioner," "executive director," "employer" and "premium tax;" and, adding the terms "division" and "executive director" and their meanings; and,
5. Providing incorporation in the rules of substantive legislative changes in the relevant statutory law and incorporation of substantive law which was not previously incorporated in these rules. The subjects of these changes are as follows:
 - (a) default arising from noncompliance with the workers' compensation law prior to the date of initial employment of an employee and thereafter;
 - (b) assessment in arrears of premium tax through benefit payorders to self-insured employers;
 - (c) tax claims in bankruptcy;

- (d) criminal acts and penalties and the prosecution of these acts;
- (e) notice of default;
- (f) notice of right to a hearing and due process of law prior to distraint;
- (g) responsible persons subject to personal liability;
- (h) coordination with and notices of default to the Director of the Division of Environmental Protection;
- (i) applications for reinstatement;
- (j) responsibility for witness's expenses; and,
- (k) time periods for curing delinquency and for execution of reinstatement agreements.

TITLE 85
WEST VIRGINIA EXEMPT LEGISLATIVE RULES
BUREAU OF EMPLOYMENT PROGRAMS
WORKERS' COMPENSATION DIVISION

FILED

Dec 28 1 59 PM '95

OFFICE OF WEST VIRGINIA
SECRETARY OF STATE

SERIES 11
ENFORCEMENT OF REPORTING AND PAYMENT REQUIREMENTS

§85-11-1. General.

1.1. Scope. -- This legislative rule implements the provisions of West Virginia Code, §§23-1-13 and 16; §§23-2-1, 1b, 1d, 5, 5a, 5b, 5c, 5d, 8, 9, 13, 14, 15 and 17; and §23-3-1, provides for regarding the determination of delinquency and default on the part of by employers; reporting and payment requirements; for the enforcement of compliance by employers with reporting and payment requirements; and, collection of payments arising from those requirements and for enforcement of other required payments others.

1.2. Authority. -- West Virginia Code, ~~§§23-3-1; 23-2-5; 23-2-9; 23-1-13; 23-4A-6; 29A-3-3; & 5F-2-2(a)(11) & (12); §21A-2-6(1) & 6(2); §21A-3-7(b) & 7(c); §23-1-1 and §23-2-18.~~ Pursuant to West Virginia Code, §21A-3-7(c), rules adopted by the compensation programs performance council and the commissioner are not subject to legislative approval as would otherwise be required under West Virginia Code, §29A-3-1 et seq. Public notice requirements of that chapter and article, however, must be followed. Pursuant to Enrolled Committee Substitute for House Bill 4030, Regular Session, 1994, the Department of Commerce, Labor and Environmental Resources was abolished. Pursuant to that same bill and to Executive Order No. 5-94 by the Governor, the Commissioner of the Bureau of Employment Programs is empowered to promulgate rules and regulations without the consent or approval of a departmental secretary.

1.3. Filing date. -- ~~August 11, 1995~~

1.4. Effective date. -- ~~September 10, 1995~~

1.5. Purpose and Effective Date of Amendments to Rule. -- The purpose of amendments to this rule is to implement the amended provisions of West Virginia Code, as amended by the Acts of the Legislature, as set forth in Enrolled Committee Substitute for Senate Bill No. 250, passed on February 10, 1995, and in effect from passage, as well as other amendments which are refinements of the prior rules which were designed to ensure effective administration and financial viability of the workers' compensation system.

§85-11-2. Definitions.

2.1. As used in this rule, the following terms, words, and phrases have the meanings stated unless in any instance where such term, word, or phrase is employed the context expressly indicates that another meaning is intended.

2.2. The term "Act" or "West Virginia Workers' Compensation Act" means the workers' compensation laws of the state of West Virginia which are codified at chapter 23 of the Code of West Virginia Code of 1931, as amended.

2.3. The terms "~~Code of West Virginia~~" and "West Virginia Code" and "W. Va. Code" mean the West Virginia Code of 1931, as amended.

2.4. The term "commissioner" means the ~~West Virginia Workers' Compensation Commissioner~~ of the Bureau of Employment Programs or the West Virginia Commissioner of Employment Programs as provided for by West Virginia Code, §21A-2-1 and §23-1-1.

2.5. The term "default" means either or both of the following: ~~the failure by an employer which has not made a payment or filed a report due by it under the Act and which has received a subsection 3.3 delinquency notice of its failure but has further failed to make the payment or file the report within the time period specified by the notice. For the purposes of this definition, the employer may be a regular subscriber to the Fund or a self-insured employer and either an employer required to subscribe to the Fund or an electing employer.~~

a. The failure by a subscriber or a self-insured employer which has not made a payment or filed a report due by it under the provisions of the Act and which has received a subsection 3.3. notice of delinquency but has further failed to make the payment or file the report within the time period specified by the notice. For the purposes of this definition, the employer may be a regular subscriber to the Fund or a self-insured employer with the Fund and either an employer required to subscribe to the Fund or an employer electing to subscribe to the Fund.

b. The omission or failure by an employer to subscribe to and pay premiums into the Fund and to comply with the requirements of the West Virginia Workers' Compensation Act at chapter 23 of the W. Va. Code, and the rules prescribed by the division, as provided by the Code at §23-2-1(a), prior to the first date of employment of any employee of the employer and thereafter, shall cause default to occur immediately prior to the moment of employment of any employee upon the employer's omission or failure to subscribe or comply by that time. Default, as defined in this subsection, shall immediately, without notice as required by W. Va. Code, §23-2-5, for delinquencies of subscribing employers, subject the employer to all the penalties prescribed by law, including interest on unpaid amounts, late reporting or payment penalty, penalty premium rate and other penalties and collection actions prescribed by Code and Rule, including particularly the penalty prescribed by W. Va. Code at §23-2-8, that is, the default employer shall be liable to respond in damages at common law or by statute for the injury or death of any employee, however occurring, without the benefit of the common law defenses set forth in that section. This default may be cured through the employer's compliance with the Act and Rules. If the default employer has not filed an application for coverage, the application must be filed. The provisions at W. Va. Code, §23-2-5(f), are applicable to this default in providing for restoration of the benefits and protection of the Act, prospectively from the date of complete reporting and payment in full of the employer's delinquency and default liability or from the date of a complete filing of an application for

reinstatement with adequate reinstatement deposit.

Default as defined in this rule is not affected or altered by the provisions of Rule, 85 C.S.R. 1, providing for a grace period, for the first thirty (30) days from and including the date of employment of any employee; except that, if the employer files the application and deposit within thirty (30) days from the first date of employment, the employer may avoid the imposition of interest on payments unpaid when due, penalty premium rate, late reporting or payment penalty or other monetary penalties which may be imposed under law by the division for the employer's omission or failure to file an application for coverage and premium deposit prior to the first date of employment of any employee. Therefore, the provisions of W. Va. Code, §23-2-8, regarding civil liability for the injury or death of an employee, are not affected or altered by provision for such grace period. Furthermore, according to the exception set forth in the last sentence of W. Va. Code, §23-2-1(h), regarding coverage of sole proprietors, partners and corporate officers, notwithstanding the provision for a grace period from the imposition of certain other stated penalties, no sole proprietor, partner or corporate officer who may be lawfully elected out of mandatory coverage under subsections (g) and (h) of W. Va. Code, §23-2-1, may be afforded any benefits of coverage if injured within such thirty day grace period or thereafter until actual subscription occurs through application for coverage prior to the date of injury of such person.

2.6. The term "division" means the Workers' Compensation Division of the Bureau of Employment Programs of West Virginia as provided by West Virginia Code, §21A-1-4 and §23-1-1.

~~2-6:~~ 2.7. The term "electing employer" means an employer which is not required to subscribe to the Fund but which chooses to do so as provided for by West Virginia Code, §23-2-1.

~~2-7:~~ 2.8. The term "employee" has the meaning ascribed to that term by West Virginia Code, §23-2-1 and §23-2-1a.

~~2-8:~~ 2.9. The term "employer" means either or both of the following:

a. The term "employer" has the meaning ascribed to that term by West Virginia Code, §23-2-1, which includes, but is not limited to, any individual, sole proprietor, firm, partnership, limited partnership, ~~partnership~~, limited liability company, joint venture, association, corporation, company, organization, receiver, estate, trust, guardian, executor, administrator, government entity or any other entity regularly employing another person or persons for the purpose of carrying on any form of industry, service or business in this state.

b. The term "employer" shall also mean, for the purposes of this rule's enforcement provisions at subsection 7.2. and sections 8., 9., 11. and 12., any "responsible person" as defined in subsection 3.9. of this rule, including owners, partners, officers and employees who are required or who have the duty under the Act, corporation law, or other applicable law, bylaw or rule to truthfully account for and pay to the division, or to cause the

same to occur, any premium tax, premium deposit, interest, penalty or other payment required by the Act.

~~2.10.~~ 2.10. The term "executive director" means the person designated by the commissioner to be Executive Director to serve as the chief operating officer for the daily operations of the workers' compensation division, as provided by West Virginia Code, §23-1-4, and who was formerly titled as "secretary" therein and as "executive secretary" in this rule.

~~2.9.~~ 2.11. The term "Fund" means the West Virginia Workers' Compensation Fund, including the surplus fund, created by West Virginia Code, §23-3-1, as well as the "Disabled Workers' Relief Fund" created by West Virginia Code, §23-4A-1.

~~2.10.~~ 2.12. The term "payment" means any amount of money owed by an employer to the ~~commissioner~~ division by reason of the operation of any provision of the Act or any other applicable law, or the various rules promulgated by the commissioner or the compensation programs performance council.

~~2.11.~~ 2.13. ~~The term~~ terms "premium" and "premium tax" ~~means~~ mean the amounts of money due from an employer to the Fund or division as the result of the quarterly and periodic ~~assessment~~ assessments by the ~~commissioner~~ division under the various provisions of the Act in order to establish, maintain, and replenish the Fund and to pay the expenses of administration of the Fund by the division. "Premium" and "premium tax" includes, but is not limited to, assessments of: premium tax, premium deposit, penalty premium rate premium tax and interest, assessed to regular subscriber employers and to self-insured employers alike; and also, that portion of self-insured premium tax assessed in arrears through benefit pay orders to the employer for the employer's claimant employees, on behalf of and for the benefit of the Fund as provided by law, assessed in arrears in lieu of direct, advance premium tax payments to the division.

~~2.12.~~ 2.14. The term "premium deposit" means the amount of money an employer is required to pay and to maintain as an advance upon quarterly, or other periodic interval, premiums premium tax pursuant to West Virginia Code, ~~§23-2-5(a)~~ §23-2-5 and §23-2-9.

~~2.13.~~ 2.15. The term "self-insurer" and "self-insured" means an employer who has applied for permission to elect and thereafter has elected to provide maintain its own benefit fund or system of compensation to its employees ~~under any or all of the various provisions of the Act~~ allowing that option ensure the payment of benefits to its injured employees and their dependents in amounts at least equal in value to the workers' compensation benefits provided by law and ordered to be paid under the provisions of the Act.

~~2.14.~~ 2.16. The term "this rule" means the present exempt legislative rule which is designated in the caption hereof as Title 85, Series 11, and ~~titled~~ entitled "Enforcement of Reporting and Payment Requirements."

§85-11-3. Employer Delinquency and Default or Termination.

3.1. Delinquency. -- An employer shall be declared to be delinquent by the ~~commissioner~~ division if any one or more of the following omissions occurs:

a. The employer fails to timely pay its premium tax, including penalty premium rate premium tax, if assessed to the employer. ~~Premiums~~ Premium tax shall be paid quarterly, or other permitted periodic interval, on or before the last day of the month following the end of the quarter or interval.

b. The employer fails to maintain an adequate premium deposit, including adjustments for the penalty premium rate, if assessed, interest accrued on late payments, late reporting or payment penalty and other penalties and charges which may be assessed to the employer under applicable law. Increases in premium deposits deposit, when necessary to be made, must be remitted with the applicable quarterly, or other permitted interval, premium tax, or timely upon notice as prescribed by W. Va. Code, §23-2-5(b) & 5(c), and subsection 3.3. of this rule.

c. The employer fails to timely file a gross wages payroll report, which report shall be due on or before the last day of the month following the end of each quarter, or other permitted interval, and which report shall be filed with the quarterly, or other interval, premium.

3.2. No employer will be declared delinquent or be assessed any penalty for such delinquency if the ~~commissioner~~ division determines that such delinquency has been caused by delays in the administration of the Fund, including the commission of errors by the ~~Fund~~ division. An employer may demand an administrative hearing on this issue ~~which~~ and the hearing, if granted by the commissioner or the division, shall be conducted as provided for in section 14. of this rule.

3.3. Notice of delinquency. -- Within sixty (60) days of the end of each quarter, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall, in writing, notify all delinquent employers of their delinquency and the reason therefor.

3.4. Contents of notice. -- The notice required by subsection 3.3. of this rule and W. Va. Code, §23-2-5, shall state the following:

a. A demand that the employer cure its failure before the end of the third month following the end of the preceding quarter and a statement that failure to cure the delinquency will result in the automatic default or termination of the employer at the end of the third month following the end of the preceding quarter but that such default employer's liability under the Code shall be retroactive to midnight of the last day of the month following the end of the quarter, or other interval, for which the delinquency occurs.

b. A demand that the employer pay interest if the delinquency arises from a delinquent premium tax payment or a delinquent premium deposit.

c. An explanation of the legal consequences of a subsequent default by the employer if the employer is one who is required to subscribe to the Fund or an explanation of the legal consequences

of termination of any electing employer's account.

d. An explanation of how the employer may cure its ~~default~~ delinquency, ~~or, if the employer has been terminated, how that employer may also be reinstated with the Fund.~~

e. A statement that, once the employer is ~~declared to be~~ in default or has been terminated, the employer's employees will receive written notice of that fact and of the legal consequences thereof.

f. An explanation that any person, ~~firm~~, firm or corporation which is required by the provisions of the Act to subscribe to the Fund, Fund and which knowingly fails to subscribe thereto, or which knowingly fails to make any report (including a gross wages payroll report) or perform any other act or duty required by the ~~commissioner~~ division (including payments of premium tax, penalty premium rate premium tax, premium deposit, late reporting or payment penalty, or interest or other charges, fees or penalties) within the time specified by the ~~commissioner~~ division, or any person or firm or the officer of a corporation who knowingly and willfully makes a false report or statement under oath, affidavit or certification respecting any information required to be provided under the Act, shall be guilty of a ~~misdemeanor~~, felony and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined ~~not more than five thousand dollars pursuant to~~ from one thousand dollars to twenty-five thousand dollars or imprisoned in the penitentiary for one year to three years, as provided by W. Va. Code, §23-1-16.

3.5. An employer who is required to subscribe to the Fund (which includes a ~~self-insuring self-insured~~ employer) and who fails to cure a delinquency within the time period provided by notice shall be in default and shall lose the benefits and ~~protections~~ protection of the Act and shall incur ~~potential~~ additional liabilities as noted below:

a. An employer who loses the benefits and protection of the Act ~~may be required~~ shall be liable to respond in damages at common law or by statute for the injury or death of any employee, however occurring, sustained in the course of employment.

b. The ~~potential~~ additional liabilities of an employer include liability to its employees for all damages suffered by reason of personal injuries sustained in the course of employment caused by the wrongful action, neglect, or default of the employer or any of the employer's partners, officers, agents, agents or employers employees, while acting within the scope of their employment and in the course of their employment and also to the personal representatives of such employees where death results from such personal injuries. ~~Depending upon the type of employer, the~~ The employer may also lose the right to assert certain defenses during the course of a civil action brought by its ~~employees~~ injured employee or the employee's personal representative to collect such damages.

c. The default liabilities described under subsection ~~3.5.b~~ 3.5, of this rule are retroactive to twelve o'clock p.m. (midnight) of the last day of the month following the end of the quarter for which the delinquency occurs.

3.6. An employer who voluntarily elects to subscribe to the Fund and who fails to cure a delinquency shall have its election to pay into the Fund terminated and such an employer shall lose the benefits and protections protection of the Act described in subsection 3.5.a of this rule and to may incur the additional liabilities described in subsection 3.5.b 3.5. of this rule. Similarly, the subsection 3.5.b The default liabilities of the employer are retroactive on the same basis as set forth in subsection 3.5.c. of this rule.

3.7. An employer who is ~~required to subscribe~~ a subscriber to the Fund ~~Fund, whether such subscription is mandatory or voluntary, or who is self-insured with the Fund~~ and who does not cure its delinquency, ~~and make the payments as required by the subsection 3.3. notice of delinquency,~~ shall be in default and, if an elective subscriber, have its account and the benefits and protection of the Act terminated upon default, without further action by or notice from the commissioner division, by operation of the provisions of law for immediate and automatic default upon the employer's failure to cure timely the delinquency.

3.8. An employer who ~~voluntarily elects to subscribe to the Fund who does not cure its delinquency and make the payments as required by the subsection 3.3. notice shall be terminated from further participation in the Fund without further action by or notice from the commissioner.~~ is required to subscribe to the Fund and who fails to subscribe and otherwise comply with the Act and Rules prior to the first date of employment of any employee of the employer shall be in default immediately prior to the moment of employment of any such employee and default shall occur without the need for notice of delinquency as required for an employer who has subscribed or has been permitted to be self-insured and is delinquent.

3.9. Notice of default.

a. After the delinquency and default of a subscriber or self-insured employer, the division shall notify the default employer of the methods by which the employer may be reinstated and restored with the Fund to the benefits and protection of the Act.

b. After the default of a non-complying employer, as defined in subsection 2.5.b. of this rule, upon discovery of the occurrence and the name and address of the employer, the division shall notify the default employer of the methods by which the employer may be reinstated and restored with the Fund to the benefits and protection of the Act.

c. Upon default, notice of default is not required prior to the initiation or commencement by the division of any action to obtain the employer's compliance with the Act and the payment of any amounts due to the Fund; except that, in the case of an employer who was required by the Act to subscribe and the default occurred, as defined in subsection 2.5.b. of this rule, because of the employer's failure to subscribe and to comply with the Act, notice of default and notice of intention to levy, as provided in subsection 12.1.f., shall be given prior to any action of distraint or levy upon personal property of the employer or a responsible person.

~~3-9: 3.10.~~ Any person required to ~~collect,~~ truthfully account for, ~~for~~ and pay over to the ~~commissioner~~ division any premium ~~tax~~, premium deposit, ~~penalty premium rate premium tax,~~ late reporting or payment penalty, interest or ~~other~~ penalty pursuant to the provisions of W. Va. Code, §23-2-1, et seq., ~~or to cause the same to occur,~~ who willfully fails to ~~collect the premium, premium deposit, interest or penalty, or~~ truthfully account for and pay over the premium ~~tax~~, premium deposit, ~~penalty premium rate premium tax, late reporting and payment penalty,~~ interest or ~~other~~ penalty, ~~or to cause the same to occur,~~ or willfully attempts in any manner to evade or defeat any ~~such~~ premium, premium deposit, interest or penalty or the payment thereof, is, in addition to other penalties provided by law, liable for a ~~penalty sum~~ equal to the total amount of the premium ~~tax~~, premium deposit, ~~penalty premium rate premium tax, late reporting or payment penalty,~~ interest or ~~other~~ penalty evaded, ~~or not collected, or not accounted for and paid over.~~ The ~~penalty sum of liability~~ is a personal obligation of the responsible person, ~~or persons,~~ and is immediately due and owing to the ~~commissioner~~ division and, in addition thereto, is a lien enforceable against all the property of the person ~~or persons.~~

§85-11-4. Further Effects of Delinquency.

4.1. The ~~commissioner~~ division shall not certify to the secretary of state of West Virginia that all payments and interest due the ~~commissioner~~ division by an employer have been made until the employer cures any delinquency, default, or termination or until the employer has made arrangements satisfactory to the ~~commissioner~~ division for that cure or until all payments and reports due by the employer under the Act have been made or arranged for by agreement with the ~~commissioner~~ division.

4.2. Pursuant to W. Va. Code, §23-2-5a, the secretary of state shall withhold the issuance of any certificate of dissolution or withdrawal in the case of any corporation organized under the laws of West Virginia or organized under the laws of any other state and admitted to do business in this state until the secretary of state receives the subsection 4.1. certification.

§85-11-5. Notice to Employees of ~~Delinquent~~ Default Employers.

5.1. Upon the default or termination of an employer, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall issue a written notice to the employees of that employer. The notice shall be in the form prescribed by the ~~commissioner~~ division.

5.2. Contents of notice. -- The notice shall inform the employees of the default or termination of their employer and the effective date thereof. The notice shall also inform the employees of the legal consequences, as it affects the employees, of the default or termination of their employer. In the case of an employer which is required to subscribe to the Fund, the notice shall inform the employees that the default employer is liable to its employees for injury or death, both in workers' compensation benefits and in damages at common law or by statute in a civil action in court. In the case of an employer which is not required to subscribe to the Fund, but has voluntarily elected to do so, the notice shall inform the employer and the employees that

neither the default and terminated employer nor its employees are protected by the Act as to any injury or death after the date of default. The notice shall also contain the following statement which shall be printed in conspicuous type: "Any person who shall, prior to the reinstatement of the said employer, as hereinbefore provided for, or prior to sixty days after the posting of this notice, whichever shall first occur, remove, deface, or render illegible this notice, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined ~~not to exceed five hundred (\$500.00)~~ one thousand (\$1,000.00) dollars."

5.3. Posting the notice. -- The ~~commissioner~~ division shall arrange for the posting of the subsection 5.1. notice in a conspicuous place at the chief works of the employer, as the same appears in the records of the ~~commissioner~~ division. If the chief works of the employer cannot be found or identified, then the subsection 5.1. notice shall be posted at the front door of the courthouse of the county in which the chief works are located, according to the division's records, ~~in the commissioner's office~~. A copy of the notice shall also be sent to the office of the secretary of state for publication in the state Register.

5.4. The ~~commissioner~~ division may require any sheriff, deputy sheriff, ~~constable~~, or other official of the state of West Virginia, who may be authorized to serve civil process, to post the subsection 5.1. notice and to make return thereof of the fact of such posting to the ~~commissioner~~ division, and any failure to post any notice within ten days after he or she shall have received the same from the ~~commissioner~~, division, without just cause or excuse, shall constitute a willful failure or refusal to perform a duty required of him or her by law within the meaning of W. Va. Code, §61-5-28. Any person actually injured by reason of such failure shall have an action against said official, and upon any official bond he or she may have given, for such damages as such person may actually have incurred, but not to exceed, in the case of any surety upon said bond, the amount of the penalty of said bond.

5.5. Fee for posting. -- Any official posting the subsection 5.1. notice shall be entitled to the same fee as is now or may hereafter be provided for the service of process in suits instituted in courts of record in the state of West Virginia, which fee shall be paid by the ~~commissioner~~ division out of any funds at his or her disposal, but shall be charged by him or her against the account of the employer to whose delinquency such notice relates.

§85-11-6. Audits of Employers.

6.1. Pursuant to W. Va. Code, §23-2-2(a), every employer shall furnish the ~~commissioner~~ division, upon request, all information required by the ~~commissioner~~ division to ascertain or verify the number of employees employed by the employer during a pertinent period, the wages paid to employees during a pertinent period, any payments owed to the Fund, as premium tax, premium deposit, interest, penalties, fees, or to carry out the various purposes of the Act.

6.2. In order to inspect the information specified in subsection 6.1. of this rule, the ~~commissioner~~ division may direct that an agent or employee of the Fund audit the books and other

records of the employer during the regular business hours of the employer or at another reasonable time whether located at the employer's place or places of business or elsewhere and the employer shall permit the audit to occur and shall cooperate with the auditors so that the audit may be successfully completed.

6.3. Either as an addition to or as an alternative to the audit permitted under subsection 6.2. of this rule, the ~~commissioner~~ division may convene an administrative hearing or conduct a deposition for the purpose of receiving the subsection 6.1. information in testimonial or evidentiary form. The commissioner, the executive ~~secretary~~, director, an inspector or a designated hearing officer may issue subpoenas and compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of pertinent books, accounts, papers, records, documents, and testimony at any such hearing or deposition. Any such administrative hearing or deposition shall be convened and conducted in accordance with section 14. of this rule and the ~~commissioner~~ division shall have the right to have any employer or officer, agent, or employee of any employer examined under oath or affirmation. A deposition may be held pursuant to this subsection even if a hearing regarding the employer has not been previously noticed or requested; but, in that event, adequate notice of the deposition shall be given to all interested parties known to the ~~commissioner~~ division.

6.4. The request for information provided for by subsection 6.1., the audit provided for by subsection 6.2., or the hearing provided for by subsection 6.3. may be conducted at any time when necessary to carry out the purposes of the Act including when the ~~commissioner~~ division has good cause to believe that the employer may be delinquent. Such times may be before the issuance of a subsection 3.3. notice of delinquency, after the issuance of a subsection 3.3. notice of delinquency, before or after an employer has defaulted pursuant to subsection 3.7. or has been terminated pursuant to subsection 3.8. of this rule, or before, during, or after the implementation of an attempt to collect or enforce upon the employer's delinquency as provided for in subsection 7.2. of this rule.

§85-11-7. Methods of Collection of Payments and Enforcement.

7.1. Prior to a subsection 3.5. default or a subsection 3.6. termination, an employer may cure its delinquency by paying in full the amounts claimed to be owed by the ~~commissioner or~~ division and by filing a complete gross wages payroll report, ~~as may be applicable if not filed~~. At this stage, the amounts claimed to be owed to the ~~commissioner~~ division shall include a requirement for the payment of interest on the all delinquent premium payment payments and/or premium deposit pursuant to W. Va. Code, §23-2-13. ~~The amounts claimed to be owed shall not include the amount of any penalty for claims losses.~~

a. In the event that the employer disputes the amounts claimed to be owed to the ~~commissioner~~ division or disputes the completeness or accuracy of an alleged delinquent gross wages payroll report, the employer may file a petition setting forth the facts upon which it bases its dispute and may demand that the ~~commissioner~~ division convene an administrative hearing pursuant to ~~subsection 13.11 and~~ section 14. of this rule for the purpose of taking evidence to resolve the dispute. As a part of the petition, the employer must pay the full amount claimed to be due by the ~~commissioner~~ division. The ~~commissioner~~ division shall deposit the disputed payment into his or

her normal interest bearing the division's account until the dispute is resolved.

b. During the time from the receipt of the hearing demand and until the issuance of an order by the commissioner or division following the hearing which resolves the dispute, the delinquency of an employer shall be tolled as being a delay caused by the administration of the Fund. Following the issuance of the commissioner's or division's order, the time for the employer to cure its delinquency will resume until any previously unexpired days have elapsed. The ~~commissioner's~~ order shall be deemed to be issued on the date it is received by the employer's representative as shown by the return receipt of the United States Postal Service's certified mail system. The ~~commissioner's~~ order resolving the dispute shall be interlocutory in nature and shall not be a final order for ~~appeals~~ appeal purposes.

c. During the period affected by this subsection, neither the commissioner or division, nor any representative or agent of the commissioner or division, shall have the authority to waive any part of any payments owed to the Fund. The employer can cure its delinquency only by paying the full amount found to be owed. If the ~~commissioner's~~ order rules in whole or in part in the favor of the employer, then the appropriate sum, without interest, will be reimbursed to the ~~employer,~~ employer together with the interest earned on that portion, from the amount previously paid by the employer.

7.2. Following the default or termination of an employer, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall have available to ~~him or her~~ it the following remedies which shall each be described more fully below:

a. Initiation of a civil action.

b. Filing of a lien or liens enforceable against all the property of the employer and the persons, partners and officers who are or were responsible for payment or causing the payment of the default liability for which the liens were filed.

c. Initiation of an action in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County to enjoin the employer from continuing to carry on the business in which its liability was incurred or, in the alternative, to accept a bond from the employer.

d. Filing a claim in any bankruptcy proceeding or in a receivership or insolvency proceeding.

e. ~~Upon receipt of written application for reinstatement filed by the defaulted or terminated employer, the commissioner must issue notice of an administrative hearing upon the delinquency, the cure thereof, and any possible waiver of a portion of that cure.~~ Informing the director of the division of environmental protection when an employer is delinquent, default or terminated with the Fund prior to the director's issuance of a coal mining permit so that the permit may not be issued until the applicant is in compliance with the Act, as provided in W. Va. Code, §22-3-8.

f. Requesting a criminal prosecution of any person, firm, corporation or other employer whose non-compliance with the Act is believed to be in violation of W. Va. Code, §23-1-16 and section 17. of this rule.

7.3. In addition to the other remedies set forth here, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may also initiate a proceeding ~~or proceedings~~ in the name of the state to distrain upon any personal property, including intangible property, of any delinquent employer **and responsible persons**. If the ~~commissioner~~ **division** has good reason to believe that such property or a substantial portion thereof is about to be removed from the county in which it is situated, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may initiate a distraint proceeding in the name of the state before the employer actually becomes delinquent. In exercising the power of distraint, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** shall do so only as provided for in section 12. of this rule.

7.4. In every case noted in this section 7. where a monetary sum is to be collected, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** shall include a demand for interest as specified in section 15. of this rule.

7.5. The remedies set forth in subsection 7.2. and 7.3. of this section ~~7.~~ are described in greater detail in later sections of this rule.

§85-11-8. Statutory Lien.

8.1. Any payment and interest thereon due and unpaid under the Act constitutes a lien enforceable against all of the property of the owing employer. By way of example, and not by limitation, payments owed may include delinquent ~~or default premiums, premium taxes,~~ delinquent premium deposits, ~~penalty premium rate premium taxes, late reporting or payment penalties,~~ claims losses ~~benefits~~ paid by the Fund for employees, or their dependents, of a delinquent, defaulted, or terminated employer, costs of serving or posting notices, ~~dishonored check service fees, court and hearing charges and fees~~ and all other unresolved claims shown upon the account of an employer by the records ~~in of the commissioner's office~~ **division**, plus interest thereon as calculated under W. Va. Code, §23-2-13, and section 15. of this rule. The property subject to the lien includes all of the employer's ~~lienee's~~ real estate, personal property of all ~~types, types~~ and combinations thereof.

8.2. In accordance with W. Va. Code, §23-2-5a and §38-10C-2, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** shall file a written notice of the subsection 8.1. lien in the office of the clerk of the county commission of the county in which the property of the employer ~~or lienee~~ against whom such lien is claimed, is situate, or if the employer's ~~or lienee's~~ property is situated in more than one county, then in each such ~~clerk's offices~~ **clerk's office** in each such county. The notice shall certify the amount of money that is owed to the Fund by the employer. ~~In addition, a duplicate original of each such notice shall be filed with the office of the secretary of state.~~

8.3. Pursuant to W. Va. Code, §38-10C-2, the clerk or clerks of the county commission or commissions shall, upon the filing of the notice, index the notice in the judgment or tax lien docket of his or her office against the employer or lienee in favor of the state of West Virginia and the ~~commissioner~~ division. Upon the satisfaction of such lien, a properly acknowledged release thereof for recordation shall be delivered or mailed to the employer or lienee by the ~~commissioner~~ division or shall be delivered or mailed to the clerk of the county commission in the county in which the lien was filed. Such notice or notices of the lien shall be supplemented by additional notices from time to time whenever any additional liability is incurred by the employer or is determined by audit or other proceeding.

8.4. Until the lien is docketed as provided for in subsection 8.3. of this rule, the lien is unenforceable against all purchasers (including a lien creditor) of real estate or personal property for a valuable consideration except for such purchasers with actual notice of the ~~commissioner's~~ division's lien. However, if a purchaser (including a lien creditor) of real estate or personal property for a valuable consideration has actual knowledge of the ~~commissioner's~~ lien, then that lien shall be enforceable against such a purchaser even before the lien is docketed as provided for in subsection 8.3. of this rule. Following the docketing pursuant to subsection 8.3., the lien is enforceable against any purchaser (including a lien creditor) with or without actual notice of the ~~commissioner's~~ lien.

8.5. Once all amounts due from the employer are collected by the ~~commissioner~~ division, the commissioner shall release the lien or liens as provided for by law.

§85-11-9. Civil Actions.

9.1. The ~~commissioner~~ division in the name of the state may commence a civil action against an employer, which includes for the purposes of this section a responsible person, as defined in subsection 3.9. of this rule, or both, who, after due notice, defaults in any payment or duty required by the Act and this rule. Such payments may include, but are not limited to, ~~premiums,~~ premium taxes, premium deposits, deposit, penalty premium rate premium taxes, late reporting or payment penalties, claims losses benefits paid by the Fund, costs and fees of serving or posting notices, ~~and posting and service thereof,~~ court and hearing charges and fees or any other amounts lawfully owed, and interest thereon, for by employers in default; ~~or any amounts lawfully owed by employers who have been terminated from coverage by the Fund; or, amounts lawfully owed to the Fund by employers who elect~~ elected to self-insure.

9.2. Such a civil action ~~shall~~ may be pursued under the applicable provisions of W. Va. Code, §14-1-1 et seq., W. Va. Code, chapter 38, or as otherwise provided by law. The ~~commissioner~~ division shall be represented in such a civil action by a representative or designee of the office of the attorney general. It is expressly noted that the provisions of section 18a, 18b, and 18c of article 1, chapter 14 of the ~~Code of West Virginia~~ Code are not applicable to a subsection 9.1. civil action, but may be used as is otherwise proper.

9.3. Subsection 9.1. civil actions shall be settled or dismissed only as provided for by W. Va. Code, §14-1-18. ~~In determining whether to settle or dismiss such a civil action, the commissioner~~

~~and the attorney general shall be guided by the six equitable considerations set forth at W. Va. Code §23-2-5(f), the evaluation of which shall be set forth in the settlement or dismissal order of the circuit court. The commissioner and the attorney general shall deviate from those six equitable considerations only for good cause which cause shall be fully described in any settlement or dismissal order of the circuit court. All such settlement or dismissal orders shall be public information and shall not be placed under seal.~~

9.4. Pursuant to W. Va. Code, §23-2-5a, if the judgment entered in a subsection 9.1. civil action is against the defendant employer, the employer defendant shall pay the costs of the action. In addition, a subsection 9.1. civil action shall be given preference on the calendar of the court over all other civil actions.

9.5. Upon obtaining a judgment in any civil action under this section 9., the ~~commissioner~~ division shall enforce and execute upon that judgment as provided for by W. Va. Code, §14-1-1 et seq., or as otherwise provided for by law. Any agreement to accept less than the full value of the judgment together with interest thereon shall be made solely as set forth in subsection 9.3. of this rule and shall be stated in writing ~~which~~ and that document shall be a public record.

§85-11-10. Injunctions From Carrying On Business.

10.1. In any case when an employer required to subscribe to the Fund defaults in ~~payments~~ payment of premium, premium ~~deposits~~, deposit, penalty, or interest thereon, for as many as two calendar quarters, which quarters need not be consecutive, and remains in default after due notice, the division may bring an action in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County to enjoin such employer from continuing to carry on the business in which such liability was incurred.

10.2. The division may, as an alternative to pursuing such an injunction, require such a delinquent employer to file a bond in the form prescribed by the division with satisfactory surety in an amount not less than fifty percent more than the payments and interest due. The bond must be issued by a corporate surety satisfactory to the division.

§85-11-11. Receivership and Insolvency Proceedings; Bankruptcy.

11.1. In accordance with the provisions of W. Va. Code, §23-2-5a, in case a business subject to the payments and interest thereon imposed under the Act shall be operated in connection with a receivership or insolvency proceeding in any state court in this state, the court under whose direction such business is operated shall, by the entry of a proper order or decree in the cause, make provisions, so far as the assets in administration will permit, for the regular payment of such payments as the same become due.

11.2. In any such case as is described in subsection 11.1., the ~~commissioner~~ division shall be represented by a representative or designee of the office of the attorney general and the ~~commissioner~~ division may file such pleadings, motions, and other documents and take any other

legal action so as to protect the interests of the Fund during the pendency and resolution of such case.

11.3. In the event that any employer which owes any payment and interest under the provisions of the Act files for or is placed in a bankruptcy proceeding under the laws of the United States, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may become a party to such proceedings and take any and all actions needed to protect the interests of the Fund during the pendency and resolution of the proceeding. The ~~commissioner~~ **division** may institute an involuntary proceeding against an employer in a bankruptcy court of the United States in any proper instance. All premium tax assessments, as defined in subsection 2.13. and elsewhere in this rule and in the Act, are special revenue taxes under and according to the provisions of state workers' compensation law and are deemed to be tax claims, as priority claims or administrative expense claims according to those provisions of law provided in the United States bankruptcy code.

§85-11-12. Distraint Upon Personal Property.

12.1. General authority and provisions.

a. Authority of ~~Commissioner~~ **the division**. -- If any premium ~~tax~~, premium deposit, penalty, interest, claims ~~losses~~, **benefit** or other payment required by the Act is due and the employer is ~~delinquent, terminated, or in default for nonpayment of such obligation and notice thereof has been given as provided for by this rule and the demand is not then the subject of administrative or judicial review, then, if any employer liable to pay such payment, premium tax, or penalty neglects or refuses to pay the same within fifteen days~~ the period of time provided for payment after notice and demand as provided in subsection ~~12.1.e~~ **12.1.f** hereof, it shall be lawful for the ~~commissioner~~ **division** to collect the amounts due and such further sums as are sufficient to cover the expense of the levy, by levy in the name of the state and division upon all personal property, including intangible property, and rights to property belonging to such employer or on which there is a lien as provided for by the Act for payment of the obligation due. If the ~~commissioner~~ **division** finds that the collection of such obligation is in jeopardy, notice and demand for immediate payment may be given by the ~~commissioner~~ **division** and, upon failure or refusal to pay such obligation, collection thereof by levy shall be lawful without regard to the ~~fifteen-day time~~ period provided in subsection 12.1.f. If the ~~commissioner~~ **division** has good cause to believe that such property or a substantial portion thereof is about to be removed from the state in which it is situated, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may likewise distraint before such delinquency occurs.

b. The term "levy" as used in this section includes the power of distraint and seizure by any lawful means. Except as otherwise provided in this section, a levy shall extend only to property possessed and obligations existing at the time thereof. In any case in which the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may levy upon property or rights to property, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may seize and sell such property in accordance with section 12.4. of this rule.

c. The ~~commissioner~~ **division** ~~shall only~~ may utilize the services of a sheriff, a sheriff's deputy, or a member of the Department of Public Safety in levying upon any property under this

section 12. of this rule or in performing any of the tasks related to the disposition of the property once it is seized as are set forth in the remainder of this section ~~12.~~ of this rule.

d. Successive seizures. -- Whenever any property or a right to property upon which levy has been made by virtue of subsection 12.1.a. is not sufficient to satisfy the claim of the ~~commissioner~~ **division** for which levy is made, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** may, thereafter, and as often as may be necessary, proceed to levy in like manner upon any other property liable to levy of the employer against whom such claim exists until the amount due, together with all expenses, is fully paid.

e. Distress warrant. -- The ~~commissioner~~ **division** may issue a distress warrant to the sheriff of any county of this state commanding him or her to levy upon and sell any such property or rights to property subject to levy in accordance with the provisions of this section. A distress warrant shall be executed within sixty (60) days from the date the warrant was issued. The sheriff shall return the warrant and any money collected to the ~~commissioner~~ **division** within sixty-five (65) days from the date the warrant was issued. A sheriff so collecting any payment shall be entitled to such compensation as is provided by law for his or her services in the levy and enforcement of executions.

f. Requirement of notice before levy.

A. In general. -- Levy may be made under subsection 12.1.a. upon the salary or wages or other property or right to property of any employer with respect to any unpaid obligation only after the ~~commissioner~~ **division** has notified such employer in writing of his or her intention to make such levy. ~~Such A~~ notice shall also be given by the ~~commissioner~~ **division or other officer in the manner provided by applicable law** to all entities other than the employer of whom the ~~commissioner~~ **division or other officer** has knowledge and who have a higher priority lien or right to the property than that of the ~~commissioner~~ **division**.

B. ~~Fifteen-day~~ **Notice time period and hearing** requirement. -- The notice required under subsection 12.1.f.A. shall be given in person, or by attorney-in-fact, or sent by ~~certified mail, regular United States mail~~ **restricted delivery**, to such employer's last known address **of record at the division**, no less than ~~fifteen~~ **twenty** days prior to the day of levy, **unless the notice of intention to levy and right to a hearing are set forth in the notice of delinquency as required by subsection 3.3. of this rule and W. Va. Code, §23-2-5(b) and (c);** however, no notice need be given **prior to levy** if the ~~commissioner~~ **division** has made a finding under either of the last two sentences of subsection 12.1.a. that collection of the obligation is in jeopardy: **or, if the levy is made through the provisions of Chapter 38, W.Va. Code, including notice and hearing provisions therein, for execution upon liens and a notice of delinquency was given by the division as required by subsection 3.3. of this rule and a notice of lien was docketed as required by subsection 8.2. of this rule.**

C. Continuing levy on salary and wages. -- The effect of a levy on salary or wages payable shall be continuous from the date such levy is first made until the liability out of which such levy arose is satisfied or becomes unenforceable by reason of lapse of time, at which time the ~~commissioner~~ **division** shall promptly release such levy and notify the employer upon whom such

levy was made that such levy has been released.

12.2. Property exempt from levy.

a. Enumeration. -- There shall be exempt from levy the greater of the value of exemptions as provided in chapter 38 of the ~~Code of~~ West Virginia Code or as provided below. In any case where the entity subject to the processes set forth in this section 12. is an individual human being, then the term "individual" as used in this subsection 12.2. applies solely and exclusively to such a human being and if the entity proceeded against is not an individual human being then the term "individual" does not apply to that entity:

A. Wearing apparel and school books. -- Items of wearing apparel and school books that are necessary for the individual or for members of his or her family.

B. Fuel, provisions, furniture and personal effects. -- If the individual is the head of a family, so much of the fuel, provisions, furniture and personal effects in his or her household and of the arms for personal use, livestock and poultry of the individual, as does not exceed one thousand five hundred dollars in value, if the individual is not the head of a household, this exemption shall not exceed one thousand dollars.

C. Books and tools of a trade, business or profession. -- So many of the books and tools necessary for the trade, business, or profession of the individual as do not exceed in the aggregate one thousand dollars in value.

D. Unemployment benefits. -- Any amount payable to an individual with respect to his or her unemployment (including any portion thereof payable with respect to dependents) under an unemployment compensation law of the United States, or of this state, or any other state.

E. Undelivered mail. -- Mail, addressed to any employer, which has not been delivered to the addressee.

F. Annuity and pension payments. -- Annuity or pension payments to any individual under any pension or retirement plan, including Social Security payments.

G. Workers' compensation. -- Any amount payable to an individual as workers' compensation (including any portion thereof payable with respect to dependents) under a workers' compensation law of the United States, or of this state, or any other ~~State; state;~~ except that if the individual who will be receiving such payment is a person who as sole proprietor, partner, or corporate officer, employee, or member was responsible for and is liable for the payment of the obligation levied upon, then the amount payable as workers' compensation may be levied upon.

H. Judgments for support of minor children. -- If the individual is required by a

judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction, entered prior to the date of levy, to contribute to the support of minor children, so much of his or her salary, wages or other income as necessary to comply with such judgment.

I. Public assistance. -- Any amount payable to any individual from a public assistance or relief fund created under the law of the United States, of this state, or of any other state.

J. ~~Minimum exemption for wages,~~ **Wages,** salary and other income. -- Any amount payable to or receivable by an individual as wages or salary for services provided by an employee to his or her employer, or as income derived from other sources, during any period, to the extent that the total for such period does not exceed the applicable exempt amount determined under ~~subsection 12.2.d.~~ **the provisions of chapter 38, articles 5A and 5B, W. Va. Code, plus twenty-five dollars for each additional dependent of the individual.**

K. If the employer is a natural person and if he or she owns a homestead located in this state, the first five thousand dollars thereof shall be exempt from levy.

b. Appraisal. -- The officer seizing property of the type described in subsection 12.2.a. shall appraise and set aside to the owner the amount of such property declared to be exempt. If the individual objects at the time of the seizure to the valuation fixed by the officer making the seizure, the ~~commissioner~~ **division** shall summon three disinterested individuals who shall make the valuation.

c. No other property exempt. -- Unless required by some other law, no personal property or rights to property shall be exempt from levy other than property specifically made exempt by subsection 12.2.a.

~~d. Exempt amount of wages, salary and other income. -- In the case of an individual who is paid or receives all of his or her wages, salary and other income on a weekly basis, the amount of the wages, salary and other income payable to or receivable by the individual during any week which is exempt from levy under subsection 12.2.a. shall be thirty (30) times the state minimum wage per hour, plus twenty-five dollars for each additional dependent of the individual.~~

12.3. Surrender of property subject to levy.

a. Requirement. -- Any person in possession of, or obligated with respect to, property or rights to property subject to levy upon which a levy has been made shall, upon demand of the ~~commissioner,~~ **division**, surrender such property or rights, or discharge such obligation, to the ~~commissioner,~~ **division**, except such part of the property or rights as is, at the time of such demand, subject to any prior attachment, execution or levy.

b. Enforcement of levy and extent of personal liability. -- Any person in possession of or obligated with respect to property subject to levy upon which levy has been made, who fails or refuses to surrender any property or rights to property, subject to levy, upon demand by the ~~commissioner,~~ **division**, shall be subject to prosecution as provided for in section 17. of this rule.

c. Effect of honoring levy. -- Any person in possession of or obligated with respect to property or rights to property subject to levy upon which levy has been made, who upon demand by the ~~commissioner~~, division, surrenders such property or rights to property or discharges such obligation to the ~~commissioner~~ division shall be discharged from any obligation or liability to the delinquent employer with respect to such property or rights to property arising from such surrender or payment.

d. The term "person" as used in this subsection 12.3. ~~includes an officer or employee of a corporation or a member or employee of a partnership, who as such officer, employee or member~~ includes, but is not limited to, any individual, employee, sole proprietor, partner, officer, member, joint venturer, receiver, trustee, executor, administrator, guardian, committee or official of any sole proprietorship, firm, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability company, company, association, corporation, organization, joint venture, receivership, trust, estate, governmental entity or other entity who as such person is under a duty to surrender the money, property or rights to property or to discharge the obligation or demand.

12.4. Sale of seized property.

a. Notice of seizure. -- At the time of seizure or as soon as practicable after seizure of property, notice in writing shall be given by the ~~commissioner~~ division to the owner of the property, and to the possessor thereof, or shall be left at his or her usual place of abode or business if he or she has such within the county where the seizure is made. If the owner cannot be readily located, or has no dwelling or place of business within such county, the notice may be mailed to his or her last known address by use of the certified mail, return receipt requested. Such notice shall specify the sum demanded and shall state the appraised value and identity of the property seized.

b. Notice of sale. -- The ~~commissioner~~ division may sell any property seized under this section 12. of this rule. As soon as practicable after the seizure of the property, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall give notice to the owner, in the manner prescribed in subsection 12.4.a., and shall cause a notice of sale to be published as a Class II legal advertisement in some newspaper published or generally circulated within the county wherein such seizure is made, or the county where the property is located, the last date of publication being not less than five (5) days prior to sale. This notice shall identify the property to be sold, and the date, time, place, manner, and conditions of the sale thereof, all of which shall be at the discretion of the ~~commissioner~~ division. The sale shall be conducted by public auction, or by public sale under sealed bids. Before the sale, the ~~commissioner~~ division may determine a minimum price for which the property shall be sold, and if no person offers to purchase such property at the sale for the amount of the minimum price, the property shall be declared to be purchased at such price for the state of West Virginia for the benefit of the Fund; otherwise, the property shall be declared to be sold to highest bidder. In determining the minimum price, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall take into account the expense of making the levy and sale.

c. Sale of indivisible property. -- If any property liable to levy is not divisible, so as to enable the ~~commissioner~~ division by sale of a part thereof to raise the whole amount of the sum due and the expenses of making the levy and sale, the whole of such property shall be sold. However, where the property is sold is co-owned or ~~jointly-owned~~ jointly owned by the employer and an

innocent third party, the proceeds of the sale shall be divided, based on the respective interests of the entities owning the property immediately prior to the levy and sale, and the proceeds attributable to the interest of the innocent owner or owners shall be distributed to them: Provided, that where the property to be sold is so co-owned or ~~jointly-owned~~ jointly owned by an innocent third party, who has no independent liability to the Fund, such innocent party may petition the circuit court of the county in which the property is located for relief, including postponement of the sale, in order that the court can determine if the property can be partitioned, so as to avoid sale of the innocent party's portion or grant and afford other relief by the court protective of the rights and interests of such innocent party as well as of the Fund.

12.5. Sale of perishable goods. -- If the ~~commissioner~~ division determines that any property seized is liable to perish or become greatly reduced in price or value by keeping, or that such property cannot be kept without great expense, ~~he or she~~ the division shall appraise the value of such property and shall take one of the following actions:

a. Return to owner. -- If the owner of the property can be readily found, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall give him or her notice of such determination of the appraised value of the property. The property shall be returned to the owner if, within such time as may be specified in the notice, the owner either: (a) pays to the ~~commissioner~~ division an amount equal to the appraised value; or, (b) gives bond in such form, with such sureties, and in such amount as the ~~commissioner~~ division shall

prescribe, to pay the appraised amount at such time as the ~~commissioner~~ division determines to be appropriate under the circumstances.

b. Immediate sale. -- If the owner does not pay such amount or furnish such bond in accordance with this subsection, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall, as soon as practicable, make public sale of the property.

12.6. Redemption of property.

a. Before sale. -- Any entity whose property has been levied upon shall have the right to pay the amount due, together with the expenses of the proceeding, if any, to the ~~commissioner~~ division at any time prior to the sale thereof, and upon such payment, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall restore such property to that entity and all further proceedings in connection with the levy on such property shall cease from the time of such payment.

b. Subrogation to ~~commissioner's~~ division's lien. -- Any entity redeeming the interest of another shall be subrogated to the lien of the ~~commissioner~~ division on such interest. Such entity shall lose his, ~~her,~~ her or its right to this lien, however, unless within thirty (30) days after receiving the certificate of sale of personal property, he, ~~she,~~ she or it shall file with the clerk of the county commission of the county in which the personal property is located or where the delinquent employer resides or has its business location, or if neither be in this state, the Clerk of the County Commission of Kanawha County, his, ~~her,~~ her or its claim against the delinquent employer and a copy of the certificate of sale of personal property.

12.7. Certificate of sale. -- In the case of property sold as provided in subsection 12.4., the ~~commissioner~~ division shall provide to the purchaser a certificate of sale upon payment in full of the purchase price.

12.8. Legal effect of certificate of sale of personal property.

a. Certificate of sale of property. -- In all cases of sale of property pursuant to subsection 12.4., the certificate of such sale:

A. As evidence. -- Shall be ~~given~~ prima facie evidence of the right of the officer to make such sale, and conclusive evidence of the regularity of the proceedings in making the sale; and,

B. As conveyances. -- Shall transfer to the purchaser all right, title and interest of the employer in and to the property sold; and,

C. As authority for transfer of corporate stock. -- If such property consists of stocks, shall be notice of such transfer when ~~received, to~~ received by any corporation, company or association ~~of such transfer~~; and shall be authority to such corporation, company or association to record the transfer on its books and records in the same manner as if the stocks were transferred or assigned by the party holding the same, in lieu of any original or prior certificate, which shall be void, whether canceled or not; and,

D. As receipts. -- If the subject of sale is securities or other evidences of debt, shall be a good and valid receipt to the person holding the same, as against any person holding or claiming to hold possession of such securities or other evidences of debt; and,

E. As authority for transfer of title to motor vehicle. -- If such property consists of a motor vehicle, shall be notice, when received, to any public official charged with the registration of title to motor vehicles, of such transfer and shall be authority to such official to record the transfer on the books and records in the same manner as if the certificate of title to such motor vehicle has been transferred or assigned by the party holding the same, in lieu of any original or prior certificate, which shall be void, whether canceled or not.

b. Effect of junior encumbrances. -- A certificate of sale of personal property given pursuant to subsection 12.7. shall discharge such property from all liens, encumbrances and titles over which the lien of the ~~commissioner~~ division with respect to which the levy was made had priority.

12.9. Records of sale. -- The ~~commissioner~~ division shall for each county, keep a record of all sales of property under subsection 12.4. and of redemptions of such property. The record shall set forth the debt for which any such sale was made, the date of seizure and sale, the name of the debtor and all proceedings in making such sale, the amount of ~~expenses~~, expenses and the names of the purchasers and the date and a copy of the certificate of sale. A copy of such report, or any part thereof, certified by the ~~commissioner~~ division shall be evidence in any court of this state of the truth

of the facts therein stated.

12.10. Expense of levy and sale. -- The ~~commissioner~~ division shall determine the expenses to be allowed in all cases of levy and sale under this article.

12.11. Application of levy.

a. Collection of liability. -- Any money realized from a levy shall be applied as follows: (a) first, against the expenses of the proceedings; ~~and~~ (b) second, ~~the amount, if any~~ any amount remaining shall then be applied against the liability in respect of which the levy was made ~~of~~ and the sale was conducted; ~~and, (c) third, any amount still~~ The amount, if any, remaining shall then be applied against any other delinquent liability of the employer for which levy may be made under ~~this section 12 of~~ this rule.

b. Surplus proceeds. -- Any surplus proceeds remaining after the application of subsection 12.11.a. shall, upon application and satisfactory proof in support thereof, be credited or refunded by the ~~commissioner~~ division to the person or persons legally entitled thereto.

12.12. Authority to release levy and return property.

a. Release of levy. -- It shall be lawful for the ~~commissioner~~ division to release the levy upon all or part of the property or rights to property levied upon where the ~~commissioner~~ division determines that such action will facilitate the collection of the liability, but such release shall not operate to prevent a subsequent levy.

b. Return of property. -- If the ~~commissioner~~ division determines that property has been wrongfully levied upon, it shall be lawful for the ~~commissioner~~ division to return: (a) the specific property levied upon; (b) an amount of money equal to the amount of money levied upon; or, (c) an amount of money equal to the amount of money received by the ~~commissioner~~ division from a sale of such property. Property may be returned at any time. An amount equal to the amount of money levied upon or received from such sale may be returned at any time before the expiration of nine (9) months from the date of such levy or thereafter if a demand in writing to the division has been made within such time period. For purposes of this section subsection 12.12.b., if property is declared purchased by the ~~commissioner~~ division at a sale pursuant to subsection 12.4., the ~~commissioner~~ division shall be treated as having received an amount of money equal to the minimum price determined pursuant to such subsection or, if larger, the amount received by the ~~commissioner~~ division from the resale of such property.

c. Public information. -- ~~The~~ ~~commissioner~~ division shall, upon request, make public the names and persons in whose favor a release of levy or return of property has been made as provided in subsections 12.12.a. and 12.12.b.

§85-11-13. Applications for Reinstatement.

13.1. Any employer, who is required to subscribe to the Fund and subsequently defaults, or who elects to subscribe and subsequently whose account is subsequently terminated upon default, shall be restored immediately to the benefits and protection of the Act only upon the filing of all delinquent gross wages payroll and other reports required by the commissioner division and upon payment into the Fund of all unpaid premiums, premium taxes, an adequate premium deposit, accrued interest, penalties and any other amount due under the Act or the rules promulgated by the commissioner or the compensation programs performance council.

13.2. Any employer who is in default or who's account is terminated upon default under the Act may be reinstated to the benefits and protection of the Act by filing an application for reinstatement and entering into a reinstatement agreement with the division which provides for repayment of the entire delinquency and default liability in installments, as provided by W. Va. Code, §23-2-5. No application for reinstatement may become effective until the applicant's default occurs, although the application may be filed prior to default. Applications Application for reinstatement shall be made upon forms prescribed by the commissioner division and shall include a report of the gross wages payroll of the employer during the entire period of delinquencies delinquency and any subsequent default or termination, which payroll information shall be verified by the employer or its authorized agent, and an application shall further include a an application deposit payment equal to one half of one percent of the gross wages payroll reported during the entire period of delinquency and default, or one hundred (\$100.00) dollars, whichever amount shall be greater, or equal to another portion of the liability as may be determined from time to time by rule but not to exceed the amount of the entire liability due and owing for the period of delinquency and default.

13.3. An A default or terminated employer who applies for reinstatement shall be entitled to the benefits and protection of the Act on the day that a properly completed and acceptable the application and proper application deposit is received by the commissioner division and thereafter. However, if the commissioner division subsequently reinstates an employer subject to the terms of a repayment reinstatement agreement, then the subsequent failure of the employer to make scheduled payments in accordance with the repayment reinstatement agreement, to timely file and pay current premiums, premium tax or, if the reinstatement agreement does not require earlier restoration of the premium deposit, to restore the premium deposit to the required amount by the end of the repayment period shall cause the repayment reinstatement agreement to be null, void and of no effect, and the employer shall be denied the benefits and protection of the Act effective from the date that such employer's account originally became delinquent. Similarly, either the withdrawal of an application for reinstatement; or the failure to timely file reports or make the quarterly or current premium tax payments determined to be owed to the commissioner division during the pendency of the application prior to execution of a reinstatement agreement; or refusal or failure to timely sign, execute and return to the division, within thirty (30) days of the applicant's receipt of the agreement, the reinstatement agreement offered by the division, following the entry of a final order shall cause the application for reinstatement to be null, void and of no effect, effect and the employer shall be denied the benefits and protection of the Act effective from the date that such employer's account originally became delinquent.

13.4.

~~13.5.~~

~~13.6.~~

~~13.7.~~

~~13.8.~~

~~13.9.~~

~~13.10.~~ **13.4.** Pursuant to section 6. of this rule, the ~~commissioner~~ division may direct that a complete audit of the employer's account be made at any time after a ~~reinstatement~~ an application for reinstatement is received from the employer.

~~13.11.~~

~~13.12.~~ **13.5.** An employer may file an application for reinstatement despite the pendency of some other remedial action that may have been instituted by the ~~commissioner~~ division. The ~~commissioner~~ division may then delay or continue further pursuit of that remedial ~~action~~ if action if, in the ~~commissioner's~~ division's sole discretion, the interests of the Fund will be protected or furthered despite such delay or continuance. One factor that the ~~commissioner~~ division may rely upon, but not to the exclusion of other possible factors, is whether the application is the first the employer has filed or whether the employer has filed and then defaulted on previous applications. In the latter event, the ~~commissioner~~ division will generally, unless some other good cause exists to the contrary, continue to proceed with the other remedies.

~~13.13.~~

~~13.14.~~

~~13.15.~~ **13.6.** The ~~commissioner~~ division may permit the payment of all amounts due to the Fund or the filing of all reports due to the Fund, or both, upon the terms stated in a ~~repayment~~ reinstatement agreement. The ~~commissioner~~ division shall exercise ~~his or her~~ it's discretion to enter into such an agreement and shall prescribe the terms of an agreement. The ~~repayment~~ reinstatement agreement shall not authorize or permit the reduction or waiver of any part of the premium or premium deposit, or other amount due. Further, the ~~repayment~~ reinstatement agreement shall provide for the payment of interest by the employer upon the amounts payable to the Fund over the life of the repayment agreement. The interest rate shall not change over the term of the agreement. Except in extreme circumstances, the term of an agreement shall not exceed three (3) years and in no instance shall the term of an agreement exceed five (5) years. The division shall set the reinstatement agreement's term of repayment for that period of months in which it believes the applicant is financially capable of repaying the default liability and restoring the premium deposit to the required amount but the term shall be set at not more than thirty-six (36) months, unless the applicant employer shall file, with its application for reinstatement, a request for extension of up to twenty-four (24) additional months in the term, with financial

proof of good cause why and for what extended term the request should be granted by the division in the reinstatement agreement. The breach of a ~~repayment~~ reinstatement agreement by the employer shall constitute a withdrawal by the employer of its original reapplication request and shall render the reapplication application for reinstatement and reinstatement of the employer void and of no legal effect and the employer shall be denied the benefits and protection of the Act effective from the date that such employer's account originally became delinquent; except that, the account of the employer shall be credited for any amounts paid by the employer. Nothing in this section shall apply to any other type of collection method under the Act or this rule.

§85-11-14. Administrative Hearings.

14.1. All administrative hearings conducted pursuant to this rule will be held in accordance with the provisions of W. Va. Code, §29A-5-1 et seq., and with the provisions of this section.

14.2. Unless waived by all the parties to the hearing and by the ~~commissioner~~, division, all hearings shall be preceded by at least ten (10) days written notice. The notice shall be given either by personal delivery thereof to the person or to the entity to be notified or by depositing such notice in the certified United States mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, in an envelope addressed to such person or other entity at the last known address of such person or other entity. Proof of the giving of notice in either such manner may be made by the affidavit of any officer or assistant or employee of the Fund, or by affidavit of any person over eighteen years of age, naming the person or other entity to which or to whom such notice was given and specifying the time, place and manner of the giving thereof. If certified mail is used, then a copy of the return receipt shall be attached to the proof of notice.

14.3. Notice of the hearing and service of any document or order shall be upon the parties of record except that any party who is represented by an attorney shall be deemed to have designated that attorney as the proper recipient of all such notices, documents or orders and service upon that attorney will be the equivalent for all purposes as service upon the party, as provided in W. Va. Code, §23-1-13(g). Notice shall be complete if the written notice is personally tendered to the intended recipient and is either accepted or refused by that recipient. Similarly, notice shall be complete if the written notice is sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the recipient and the return receipt shows that it was either accepted by a person at the last known address or was refused by a person at the last known address. In every case, a copy of the notice shall be sent to the office of the secretary of state for publication in the state Register.

14.4. In any instance where any form of notice is given, including one arising under subsection 14.2. of this rule or one contained in any order or document, the time period will begin to elapse with the first day following the date of the notice, order, or document. This rule is applicable whether the notice is delivered personally or served by mail.

14.5. The subsection 14.2. notice shall contain the date, time, and place of the hearing and a short and plain statement of the matters asserted or the issues to be heard. If the ~~commissioner~~ division is unable to state the matters in detail at the time the notice is served, the initial notice may

be limited to a statement of the issues involved. Thereafter, upon application by a party, a more definitive and detailed statement shall be furnished.

14.6. The hearing shall be held in the county selected by the ~~commissioner~~ division.

14.7. At the hearing, an opportunity shall be afforded all parties to present evidence and argument with respect to the matters and issues involved. Any person interested in the proceeding, but not a party thereto, shall be permitted to testify as to the issues in controversy after first being placed under oath or affirmation. Any such interested person, who is not a party, shall not, however, be permitted to submit argument or to cross-examine other witnesses; except that, argument may be restricted to a presentation in written form. All of the testimony and evidence at the hearing shall be reported by stenographic notes and characters or by mechanical or electronic means. All rulings on the admissibility of testimony and evidence shall also be reported. The Fund shall prepare an official record, which shall include reported testimony and exhibits in each contested case, and all agency staff memoranda and data used in consideration of the case, but it shall not be necessary to transcribe the reported testimony unless required for purposes of rehearing or judicial review. Upon request from any party to the hearing, all reported testimony and evidence at a hearing shall be transcribed and a copy thereof furnished to the party at its expense pursuant to W. Va. Code, §23-1-12. The Fund shall have the responsibility for making arrangements for the transcription of the reported testimony and evidence and such transcription shall be accomplished with all dispatch.

14.8. Evidentiary depositions may be taken and read as in civil actions in the circuit ~~court~~ courts of this state.

14.9. Except to the extent required by statute or by this rule, all hearings under this rule will be conducted in accordance with the then current versions of the "Rules of Civil Procedure for Trial ~~Court~~ Courts of Record", "Trial ~~Courts~~ Court Rules for Trial Courts of Record" and "Local Rules for Kanawha County Civil Courts" as those rules would apply to a trial court sitting without a jury.

14.10. All hearings shall be conducted in an impartial manner and shall be open to members of the public. The commissioner, the executive ~~secretary~~ director, and every hearing officer appointed by the commissioner or the division shall have the power to administer oaths and affirmations, certify official acts, take depositions, rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence, regulate the course of the hearing, hold conferences for the settlement or simplification of the issues (subject to the limitations stated elsewhere in this rule) by consent of the parties, dispose of procedural requests, motions, or similar matters, and take such other actions as are authorized by this rule.

14.11. During a hearing, irrelevant, immaterial or unduly repetitious evidence shall be excluded. The then current "Rules of Evidence" as applied in civil cases by a court sitting without a jury shall be followed. However, when necessary to ascertain facts not reasonably susceptible of proof under those rules, evidence not admissible thereunder may be admitted, except where precluded by statute, if it is of a type commonly relied upon by reasonably prudent persons in the conduct of their office. The hearing officer shall be bound by the rules of privilege recognized by

law. Objections to evidentiary offers shall be noted in the record, but exceptions to rulings by the hearing officer shall not be made. Any party to any hearing may vouch the record as to any excluded testimony or other evidence ~~provided that~~ evidence; however, the hearing officer may elect to require that the excluded testimony be submitted in written form following the hearing.

14.12. All evidence, including papers, records, agency staff memoranda and documents in the possession of the Fund, of which it desires to avail itself, shall be offered and made a part of the record in the ~~case, and~~ case; and, no other factual information or evidence shall be considered in the determination of the case. Documentary evidence may be received in the form of copies of excerpts or by incorporation by reference. In all cases, copies of orders, proceedings, or records in the ~~office~~ offices of the ~~commissioner~~ division shall be equal to the original in evidence.

14.13. Every party, including the Fund, shall have the right of cross-examination of witnesses who testify and shall have the right to submit rebuttal evidence. If a party wishes to cross-examine the Fund's actuary or accountant with regard to any relevant information or issue, the party shall bear the travel expenses involved in taking such witness' testimony. In addition, the party shall pay for the witness' time in preparing to testify, for testifying and for travel to and from the place of testifying at the witness' standard hourly rates. No subpoena will be issued without prepayment of the travel costs and an acknowledgment of responsibility for paying for the witness' time. Subsequent failure to pay for the witness' costs and time shall be deemed a withdrawal of the reinstatement request or a withdrawal of the elicited testimony at the discretion of the ~~commissioner~~ division. If the ~~commissioner~~ division eventually pays for the witness' costs or time, then the employer's account will be charged for such payments and such charge will constitute a payment due to the commissioner under the Act and this rule.

14.14. All witnesses who testify during a hearing shall first be subject to oath or affirmation and any testimony submitted by deposition shall show on the face thereof that the witness was so qualified.

14.15. The hearing officer may take notice of judicially cognizable facts. All parties shall be notified either before or during the hearing, or by reference in preliminary reports or otherwise, of the material so noticed, and they shall be afforded an opportunity to contest the facts so noticed.

14.16. Upon motion in writing, served by any party or by the Fund as notice may be served pursuant to subsection 14.2. of this rule, and therein assigning error or omission in any part of any transcript of the proceedings had and testimony taken at any such hearing, the hearing officer shall settle all differences arising as to whether such transcript truly discloses what occurred at the hearing or shall direct that the transcript be corrected and revised in the respects designated by the hearing officer, so as to make it conform to the whole truth.

14.17. The commissioner, the division, the executive ~~secretary~~ director or a hearing officer may issue subpoenas and compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of pertinent books, accounts, papers, records, documents and testimony. All subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum shall be issued in the name of the commissioner, but any party requesting their issuance must see that they are properly served. Service of subpoenas duces tecum issued at the instance of the Fund

shall be the responsibility of the Fund. All requests by interested parties for subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum shall be in writing and shall contain a statement acknowledging that the requesting party agrees to pay service fees and fees for the attendance and travel of witnesses as specified in subsection 14.19. of this rule.

14.18. Every subpoena or subpoena duces tecum shall be served at least five (5) days before the return date thereof, either by personal service made by any person over eighteen years of age or by registered or certified mail. But a return acknowledgment signed by the person to whom the subpoena or subpoena duces tecum is directed shall be required to prove service by registered or certified mail. If service is by mail, then the five (5) days notice period shall not begin to run until the date the subpoena or subpoena duces tecum is received by the person or entity subject thereto as shown by the date on the return receipt.

14.19. Any person who serves any such subpoena or subpoena duces tecum shall be entitled to the same fee as sheriffs who serve witness subpoenas for the circuit courts of this state. Fees for the attendance and travel of witnesses shall be the same as for witnesses before the circuit courts of this state. All such fees shall be paid by the Fund if the subpoena or subpoena duces tecum was issued, without the request of an interested party, at the instance of the Fund. All such fees related to any subpoena or subpoena duces tecum issued at the instance of an interested party shall be paid by the party who asks that such subpoena or subpoena duces tecum be issued.

14.20. Upon motion made promptly and in any event before the time specified in a subpoena duces tecum for compliance therewith, the circuit court of the county in which the hearing is to be held, or the circuit court in which the subpoena duces tecum was served, or the judge of either such court in vacation, may grant any relief with respect to such subpoena duces tecum which either such court, under the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure for Trial Courts of Record, could grant, and for any of the same reasons, with respect to a subpoena duces tecum issued from either such court.

14.21. In case of disobedience or neglect of any subpoena or subpoena duces tecum served on any person, or the refusal of any witness to testify to any matter regarding which he or she may be lawfully interrogated, the circuit court of the county in which the hearing is being held, or the judge thereof in vacation, upon application by the ~~commissioner~~, division, shall compel obedience by attachment proceedings for contempt of a subpoena or subpoena duces tecum issued from such circuit court or a refusal to testify therein.

14.22. The issuance of a subpoena duces tecum will be refused only in an instance when there is good cause to believe that the subpoena power is being abused. All subpoenas and subpoenas duces tecum will state on their face the name of the party who requested it.

14.23. Prehearing discovery shall be engaged in only with the consent of the hearing officer or, if a hearing officer has not yet been assigned, with the consent of the commissioner or the executive ~~secretary~~, director. All discovery requests will be submitted to the appropriate official at the same time as the discovery request is served upon the other party. If the official determines that the requested information is relevant and material to the issues to be heard and not unduly

burdensome, the official will permit the discovery and set a reasonable time frame for the disclosure of the information. Determination of a reasonable time frame will be premised upon the nature and scope of the information requested and the date on which the hearing is scheduled. The official shall attempt to avoid continuing a previously scheduled hearing.

14.24. Every hearing officer appointed by the commissioner or the division to conduct a hearing under this rule shall be an attorney licensed to practice law in this state.

14.25. The hearing officer is authorized to receive and rule upon any procedural matter arising before, during or after a hearing. All final rulings on substantive matters shall be made by the commissioner.

14.26. The hearing officer shall continue a hearing upon motion of the ~~commissioner~~ division. Requests for continuances by any other party shall not be granted as a matter of course, but only upon a showing of good cause which cause shall be strictly construed against the requests.

14.27. At the conclusion of the hearing, the parties shall be permitted to file prepared findings of fact and ~~conclusion~~ conclusions of law and such legal briefs or memoranda as they wish. The parties shall be permitted seven (7) days to file such items ~~which~~ and such filings shall be concurrent. The parties shall be permitted three (3) days to respond to the filing of any other party. No further argument shall be permitted.

14.28. Thereafter, the hearing officer will prepare a report and recommendation which shall contain proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law as suggested by the hearing officer for the commissioner's approval. The parties to the hearing shall then be permitted five (5) days in which to file objections or comments upon the report and recommendation. Thereafter, the commissioner shall decide whether to accept the report and recommendation, to reject it, to modify it or to remand the matter to the hearing officer for further proceedings or upon other instructions. In approving or modifying a report and recommendation, the commissioner shall not have the discretion to waive any portion of any payment due by the employer under the Act. However, the commissioner retains his or her right to review any and all proposed findings of ~~facts~~ fact against the record and to disagree therewith provided that the commissioner states the basis for the disagreement in his or her final order. The commissioner shall render either a final order or an interlocutory order, as his or her decision may require, in which the commissioner accepts in whole or in part the proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law submitted by the hearing officer and, to the extent that the commissioner rejects or modifies the report and recommendation of the hearing officer, the commissioner shall furnish his or her own findings of fact and conclusions of law.

14.29. A copy of the final order or decision of the commissioner shall be served upon each party and the party's attorney of record, if any, either in person or by registered or certified mail. A copy of every final order or decision shall be sent to the office of the secretary of state for publication in the state Register.

14.30. All appeals from the final order or decision of the commissioner shall be taken pursuant to W. Va. Code, §29A-5-4.

14.31. As part of every final order or decision, the commissioner shall note the expense to the Fund of conducting the ~~hearing upon the reinstatement application.~~ **Hearing.** Such items as the expense in retaining a hearing officer to conduct the hearing and make a report and recommendation to the commissioner, the cost of a court reporter to attend the hearing and transcribe the proceedings, the costs and fees for witnesses, and such other costs incurred by the Fund shall be noted in the final order or decision. However, such other costs shall not include costs of administration of the Fund, including salaries, which would have been paid by the Fund even if the hearing had not taken place. Unless waived by the commissioner as part of his or her findings, these amounts shall, in whole or in part, be charged to the employer's account and shall constitute a payment due by the employer to the commissioner. **division.**

§85-11-15. Interest.

15.1. Any and all payments unpaid on the date on which due and payable, as prescribed by the commissioner, **division.** shall immediately begin bearing interest. Interest shall be compounded quarterly until payment plus accrued interest is received by the commissioner. **division; except that future interest for reinstatement agreements shall be calculated and provided at a simple rate of interest.** Interest collected pursuant to this subsection shall be paid into the Fund.

15.2. Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection 15.1. of this rule, in no event shall the rate of interest charged a political subdivision of the state or a volunteer fire department exceed ten percent per annum.

§85-11-16. Clearance of Backlog.

16.1. Any employer which was or became delinquent or in default in the payment of any sum owed or report due under the Act or the various rules promulgated by the commissioner prior to July 1, 1989, and which was not previously notified of that delinquency or default by the commissioner **division** shall receive the initial notice of that delinquency or default within sixty (60) days of the commissioner's **division's** becoming aware of that delinquency **and the employer who is so notified shall have thirty (30) days after notice in which to cure such delinquency without default or to pay such default without commencement of collection actions, except that liens may be filed.**

16.2. Any employer which was or became delinquent or in default in the payment of any sum owed or report due under the Act or the various rules promulgated by the commissioner prior to July 1, 1989, and which was previously notified of that delinquency or default by the commissioner **division** shall now be pursued for the payment of the sums owed or the report due under the provisions of this rule. All employers receiving a notice under subsection 16.1. of this rule shall also be pursued for the payment of the sums owed or the report due as in each case the type of notice

requires.

16.3. In each instance described in subsections 16.1. and 16.2. of this rule all interest, penalties, claims ~~losses~~, benefits and other calculations shall begin with the dates upon which the delinquencies or defaults actually occurred and without regard to the other provisions of this section. In addition, the losses of the benefits and ~~protections~~ protection of the Act, as well as the incurring of ~~special~~ liabilities under the Act by a delinquent, ~~defaulted~~, default or terminated employer, shall also be determined as if this section 16. were not in place.

§85-11-17. Criminal Penalties.

In addition to all other remedies available to the ~~commissioner~~ division under this rule or as contained in the Act, the ~~commissioner~~ division may elect to request prosecution of any person, firm, partnership, association, ~~or~~ corporation or other entity who violates any part of the Act in accordance with W. Va. Code, §23-1-16. Notice should also be taken of the provisions of subsections 3.4.f., 5.2., and 12.3.b. of this rule for other specific provisions concerning criminal penalties.

§85-11-18. Freedom Of of Information Act.

Pursuant to the Freedom Of of Information Act, W. Va. Code, §29B-1-1 et seq., all of the evidence and records submitted during a hearing or as part of a stipulation, except insofar as to those records contain confidential medical information or other information confidential to a Fund claimant or employer subscriber, or other person or entity, shall be subject to public inspection and copying; except that, if under the rules of evidence certain testimony or documentary evidence may be deemed confidential and placed under seal, then upon such a ruling by the hearing officer, such testimony or documentary evidence shall not be disclosed. If the confidential information cannot be excised from a record, then the record as a whole will be deemed confidential; however, the ~~commissioner~~ division shall release in its place a statement explaining in detail the basis for the withholding of the record.

§85-11-19. Severability.

If any provision of this rule or the application thereof to any entity or circumstance shall be held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect the provisions or the applications of this rule which can be given affect without the invalid provisions or application and to this end the provisions of this rule are declared to be severable.